FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/21/2019 4:52 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 96944-2 Court of Appeals No. 50573-8-II IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of

Michael Canty,

Appellant.

Clark County Superior Court Cause No. 16-2-01450-3 The Honorable Judge Derek Vanderwood

Amended PETITION FOR REVIEW

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

BACKLUND & MISTRY

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Prior to Michael Canty's civil commitment trial under RCW 71.09, the state's attorney acknowledged the evidence presented a "pretty close case for an initial commitment." RP 5. At trial, Mr. Canty hoped to explain to jurors that his risk of recidivism in the community would be reduced by the possibility of civil commitment stemming from an overt act falling short of a new crime. He sought to introduce this testimony through his expert, Dr. Amy Phenix. RP 779-796. The court excluded it. RP 796.

The State was required to prove that Mr. Canty had a predicate offense that qualified as a "crime of sexual violence." CP 467. The court

¹ Counsel told Dr. Phenix that Mr. Canty knew that a petition for civil commitment could be filed if he engaged in behavior that qualified as a "recent overt act" (ROA). RP 786.

instructed jurors to determine if Mr. Canty had been "convicted of a crime of sexual violence, namely Indecent Liberties with Forcible Compulsion and/or Burglary in the First Degree with Sexual motivation." CP 467.

Mr. Canty proposed a jury instruction informing jurors of the availability of a "recent overt act" petition. CP 139, 213, 218. The court refused to instruct on the issue. CP 461-483.

Mr. Canty also asked the court to substitute the phrase "criteria for commitment" in place of "sexually violent predator" in its instructions to the jury. RP 54, 118-120. The defense cited a study showing that the inflammatory phrase "sexually violent predator" created bias unrelated to evidence of dangerousness. RP 119-120, 123. The court denied the motion and instructed jurors using the phrase "sexually violent predator." RP 118-124, 816; CP 140-143, 201, 326, 371, 466-467.

To establish Mr. Canty's predicate offense, the State introduced a 2002 judgment and sentence showing convictions for indecent liberties with forcible compulsion, burglary with sexual motivation, and unlawful imprisonment with sexual motivation. Ex. 13.

The State also offered evidence relating to a 1997 California conviction, although it did not rely on the conviction as a predicate offense.

² Mr. Canty had proposed an instruction that included the State's obligation to prove a "crime of sexual violence," but did not include language suggesting that his prior convictions automatically qualified as such crimes. CP 219, 226. The court did not give this instruction.

Ex. 3. Over objection, the court admitted the victim's 1996 testimony from a California preliminary hearing. RP 99-100, 606, 620-627; CP 362. The jury heard the prior testimony as substantive evidence, and the State relied on it in closing argument. RP 99-100, 606, 620-627, 960-962; CP 362.

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the State, and the court entered an order of commitment. CP 371-372. Mr. Canty timely appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. CP 377; Opinion (OP) 1, 23.

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

- I. THE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED MR. CANTY'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS BY REFUSING TO INSTRUCT JURORS ON THE AVAILABILITY OF A "RECENT OVERT ACT" PETITION FOR CONDUCT THAT DID NOT AMOUNT TO A NEW CRIMINAL OFFENSE.
- A. The possibility of a "recent overt act" petition diminished Mr. Canty's risk of reoffense following release.

The trial court should have instructed jurors that Mr. Canty could face indefinite detention in the future if he committed a "recent overt act" falling short of a new crime. The possibility of such future commitment mitigates an offender's risk of committing predatory acts of sexual violence while in the community in two ways.

First, commitment based on a recent overt act (ROA) incapacitates the offender before he can commit a sexually violent offense in the community. Engaging in qualifying conduct can result in indefinite detention

³ The phrase "recent overt act" is defined to include, *inter alia*, "any act, threat, or combination thereof that... creates a reasonable apprehension [of] harm of a sexually violent nature" RCW 71.09.020 (12); *see also* 6A Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 365.15 (6th ed.) ("Sexually Violent Predators—Recent Overt Act—Definition").

in total confinement, eliminating any risk to the community. A RCW 71.09.020(12); RCW 71.09.030; RCW 71.09.060. The incapacitating effect arises even if the patient does not know that civil commitment can rest on conduct falling short of a new crime. A person who commits a qualifying act will face commitment, regardless of his knowledge that non-criminal behavior can result in detention. This mitigates the risk of reoffense.

Second, the possibility of commitment based on a recent overt act has a deterrent effect. *In re Det. of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 316–17, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010). Although the deterrent effect arises from the person's knowledge, Mr. Canty should not have been required to prove that he acquired such knowledge prior to trial. The deterrent effect arises regardless of when the patient learns of "the consequences for engaging in such conduct," even if the patient first hears about it in trial or from the court's instructions. Here, Mr. Canty knew that he could face commitment based on a recent overt act. RP 786.

The court should have instructed jurors on the availability of an ROA petition.⁷ The instruction would have allowed Mr. Canty to argue his

⁴ This is akin to revocation of an offender's term of community supervision. The effect is even greater in the civil commitment context, since patients are confined until treatment reduces their risk of reoffense, while prisoners are released at the expiration of their sentence, regardless of their risk of reoffense.

⁵ Post, 170 Wn.2d at 316–17.

⁶ Counsel told Dr. Phenix that Mr. Canty knew he could be committed for a recent overt act. RP 786. Dr. Phenix's opinion on the effect such knowledge might have on Mr. Canty's risk and should have been admitted. Such communications from counsel are "reasonably relied upon by experts" in the field. *See* ER 703. But even if he had not known "the consequences for engaging" in qualifying non-criminal conduct prior to trial, he would have learned of it through Dr. Phenix's testimony. RP 779-796.

⁷ Contrary to the Court of Appeals' reasoning, the appropriate standard of review of this issue is *de novo*. OP 16. Because evidence in support of the proposed instruction must be

theory: that the incapacitating and deterrent effects arising from the availability of an ROA petition would have reduced his risk of reoffense.⁸

B. The Supreme Court should accept review because this case presents a significant constitutional issue that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4).

The Court of Appeals failed to recognize that Mr. Canty knew he could be committed following a "recent overt act," and that any lack of knowledge would be remedied by the evidence at trial and the court's instruction on the subject. OP 17-18. Nor did the Court of Appeals credit the reduction in risk stemming from the incapacitating effect. OP 17-18.

The proposed instruction was a correct statement of the law, was not misleading, and would have allowed Mr. Canty to argue his theory of the case. *State v. Erhardt*, 167 Wn.App. 934, 939, 276 P.3d 332 (2012). In its absence, the court's instructions relieved the State of its burden to prove current dangerousness and violated Mr. Canty's right to due process. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *Foucha v. Louisiana*, 504 U.S. 71, 77, 112 S.Ct. 1780, 118 L.Ed.2d 437 (1992).

II. THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS INCLUDED AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL AND ERRONEOUS COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE.

Mr. Canty could only be committed if the jury found that he'd been convicted of a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020 (18);

taken in a light most favorable to Mr. Canty, the sufficiency of that evidence is an issue of law requiring de *novo* review. *State v. Fisher*, 185 Wn.2d 836, 849, 374 P.3d 1185 (2016).

⁸ Mr. Canty did not in fact withdraw his proposed instruction. OP 17. But further, the trial court's refusal to give the instruction violated due process since it relieved the State of its burden. It may be raised for the first time on appeal. RAP 2.5(a)(3). In addition, the Court of Appeals addressed the issue on the merits; it is thus properly before the Supreme Court. *State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

RCW 71.09.060 (1); CP 467. The court instructed jurors that Mr. Canty's predicate offense were "crime[s] of sexual violence" as a matter of law. CP 467, 471. This comment on the evidence was "tantamount to a directed verdict," violating Wash. Const. art. IV, §16. *State v. Becker*, 132 Wn.2d 54, 65, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997). It also erroneously conflated two different terms: "sexually violent offenses" and "crime of sexual violence."

A. The legislature has differentiated between "sexually violent offenses" and "crimes of sexual violence."

Where the legislature uses different language in the same statute, different meanings are intended. *State v. Costich*, 152 Wn.2d 463, 475-476, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). RCW 71.09.020 uses two different phrases to describe a sexual crime: "sexually violent offense" and "crime of sexual violence." *See* RCW 71.09.020(17) *and* RCW 71.09.020(18). The two terms perform different functions.

The phrase "sexually violent offense" is found in provisions directed toward government officials. These guide the actions of various state agencies, prosecutors and any judicial officer hearing civil commitment proceedings. PCW 7109.025(1)(a); RCW 71.09.030; RCW 71.09.060; RCW 71.09.140. In contrast, the phrase "crime of sexual violence" appears only once in the Chapter 71.09 RCW. RCW 71.09.020(18). It describes an essential element required for civil commitment.

The factfinder must determine if the detainee has been convicted of

⁹ The provisions referring to "sexually violent offense" trigger the initial referral to prosecuting agencies, grant authority for filing a civil commitment petition, determine the county with jurisdiction to hold commitment proceedings, and establish requirements for notice upon escape or release. RCW 7109.025(1)(a); RCW 71.09.030; RCW 71.09.140.

or charged with a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(18); RCW 71.09.060 (1). Whether a prior offense qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence" is an issue for the factfinder at trial.

Because the legislature used two different phrases within the same statute, it necessarily intended different meanings. *Costich*, 152 Wn.2d at 475-476; *see also Durland v. San Juan Cty.*, 182 Wn.2d 55, 79, 340 P.3d 191 (2014). The two phrases are not interchangeable.

B. The trial judge improperly directed jurors to find that Mr. Canty's predicate offense automatically qualified as a "crime of sexual violence," removing the issue from the jury.

The phrase "crime of sexual violence" is not defined in Chapter 71.09 RCW. By contrast, "sexually violent offense" is defined with reference to a limited list of qualifying offenses. *See* RCW 71.09.020(17).

Where a term is undefined, courts must use its plain and ordinary meaning, derived from a standard dictionary. *Cornu-Labat v. Hosp. Dist.*No. 2 Grant Cty., 177 Wn.2d 221, 231, 298 P.3d 741 (2013). The provisions of Chapter 71.09 RCW must be strictly construed. *In re Detention of Martin*, 163 Wn.2d 501, 509, 182 P.3d 951 (2008). A court interpreting Chapter 71.09 RCW must choose a "narrow, restrictive construction" over a "broad, more liberal interpretation." *Id.* at 510.

Where a predicate offense qualifies as a "crime" that is "sexual," only the meaning of the word "violence" must be examined. The dictionary definitions of violence include "swift and intense force," or "rough or

injurious physical force." *Dictionary.com*, Random House, Inc. (2019). ¹⁰ A narrow restrictive construction of the phrase "crime of sexual violence" thus requires proof at trial of a sex offense accomplished through the application of "swift and intense force" or "rough and injurious physical force." *Dictionary.com*.

Whether an offense qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence" is an issue of fact. Before a person may be committed, the jury must be instructed to determine if the predicate offense qualifies as a "crime of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(18); RCW 71.09.060. So, the question for the jury in this case was whether Mr. Canty's predicate offenses qualified as "crime[s] of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020 (18). This, in turn, should have required jurors to determine if either offense was violent "in fact". RCW 71.09.020(18); *Dictionary.com*. Instead, the court instructed jurors to determine if Mr. Canty "has been convicted of a crime of sexual violence, namely Indecent Liberties with Forcible Compulsion and/or Burglary in the First Degree with Sexual motivation." ¹¹ CP 467.

This contrasted with the instruction proposed by Mr. Canty, which required proof that he'd been "convicted of a crime of sexual violence" but did not tell jurors that his prior offenses automatically qualified. CP 219, 226. The court did not give Mr. Canty's proposed instruction.

¹⁰ Available at http://www.dictionary.com/browse/violence (last accessed 3/5/19). This is consistent with the statute's purpose: to address the risks posed by the "small but extremely dangerous group of sexually violent predators"—those who are likely to engage in "repeat acts of predatory sexual violence"—and not the larger pool of sexual offenders who are not violent. See RCW 71.09.010.

¹¹ The court separately defined "sexual violence" to include the two offenses. CP 471.

The state constitution directs that "Judges shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment thereon, but shall declare the law." Wash. Const. art. IV, §16. A court may not "instruct the jury that matters of fact have been established as a matter of law." *Becker*, 132 Wn.2d at 64. But here, the court instructed jurors to determine if Mr. Canty had been charged with or convicted of "Indecent Liberties with Forcible Compulsion and/or Burglary in the First Degree with Sexual motivation," which it characterized as "crime[s] of sexual violence." CP 467, 471. The instructions effectively directed a verdict in favor of the State.

This was an unconstitutional comment on the evidence. *Becker*, 132 Wn.2d at 64; *see also State v. Brush*, 183 Wn.2d 550, 556-560, 353 P.3d 213 (2015). The jury question required a factual determination regarding the physical force used to accomplish the prior offenses. RCW 71.09.020 (18); *Dictionary.com*.

Under the court's instructions, the jury was not permitted to make that factual determination. Instead, the judge directed jurors to find that Mr. Canty's predicate offenses automatically qualified as crimes of sexual violence. CP 467, 471. The language used by the court was "tantamount to a directed verdict." *Becker*, 132 Wn.2d at 65.

C. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *Costich* and *Martin*. Furthermore, this case presents a significant question of constitutional law that is of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4).

The Court of Appeals did not conduct its own analysis of Mr. Canty's argument. OP 20-21. Instead, it relied on *In re Det. of Taylor-*

Rose, 199 Wn. App. 866, 876, 401 P.3d 357 (2017), review denied, 94900-0, --- Wn.2d --- (Wash. Feb. 7, 2018). OP 21 (citing *Taylor-Rose*).

The *Taylor-Rose* court in turn relied on *In re Det. of Coppin*, 157 Wn.App. 537, 553, 238 P.3d 1192 (2010). But the *Coppin* court ignored a basic principle of statutory interpretation: "where the legislature uses different language in the same statute, differing meanings are intended." *Costich*, 152 Wn.2d at 475–76; *Durland*, 182 Wn.2d at 79 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

The *Coppin* court made no effort to strictly construe the statute in favor of the detainee. *See Martin*, 163 Wn.2d at 508; *In re Det. of Hawkins*, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010). The lower court's decision in this case conflicts with *Costich, Durland, Martin*, and *Hawkins*. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and overturn *Coppin, Taylor-Rose*, and the lower court's decision here.

Further, the judicial comment is presumed to have prejudiced Mr. Canty. *State v. Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d 736, 743, 132 P.3d 136, 140 (2006), *as corrected* (Feb. 14, 2007). Reversal is required because the record does not affirmatively show that no prejudice could have resulted from the error. 12 *Id.; State v. Levy*, 156 Wn.2d 709, 725, 132 P.3d 1076 (2006). Even though the issue was not the focus at trial, "it is still conceivable that the jury could have determined that" Mr. Canty's prior offenses did not qualify as "crimes of sexual violence." *Jackman*, 156 Wn.2d at 745.

¹² Similarly, the due process violation requires reversal because the State cannot show that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *See State v. Quaale*, 182 Wn.2d 191, 202, 340 P.3d 213 (2014) (outlining the constitutional harmless error standard).

The Supreme Court should accept review and recognize that the legislature intended different meanings when it differentiated between a "crime of sexual violence" and a "sexually violent offense" in RCW 71.09.020.

III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY INCLUDING IN THE INSTRUCTIONS AN INFLAMMATORY PHRASE COINED BY THE LEGISLATURE TO DESCRIBE THOSE WHO MEET CRITERIA FOR CIVIL COMMITMENT.

Prior to trial, prospective jurors learned that Mr. Canty was facing civil commitment because he might be a "sexually violent predator." Research has shown that this phrase may create bias unrelated to evidence of a person's dangerousness. Mr. Canty sought to reduce the potential for unconscious emotional reactions by using the phrase "criteria for civil commitment" rather than the inflammatory phrase "sexually violent predator." The court's refusal to use an accurate but neutral phrase violated Mr. Canty's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.

A. The court's instructions encouraged jurors to commit Mr. Canty even if the State failed to prove mental illness and current danger-ousness.

Substantive due process prohibits indefinite civil commitment except in the narrowest of circumstances. U.S. Const. Amend. XIV; *see Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346, 364, 117 S. Ct. 2072, 138 L. Ed. 2d 501 (1997). The State must prove that the person is both mentally ill and currently dangerous. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 426-433, 99 S.Ct. 1804, 60 L.Ed.2d 323 (1979); *Foucha*, 504 U.S. at 75-86. In civil commitment cases such as this one, the State must submit "proof 'sufficient to

distinguish [patients subject to commitment] from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 732, 72 P.3d 708 (2003) (quoting *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002).

The phrase "sexually violent predator" is neither a medical classification nor a phrase with inherent legal significance. ¹³ It is, however, likely to produce an emotional response in the average person, an effect which is undoubtedly magnified for those who have children. While such language has political benefits for legislators and other policy makers, it has little to do with the jury's "constitutional role" of determining the facts without passion or prejudice. *Bunch v. King Cty. Dep't of Youth Servs.*, 155 Wn.2d 165, 179, 116 P.3d 381 (2005).

Research has shown that the language itself is unfairly prejudicial, and its use affects juror decisions. See Scurich, Gongola, & Krauss, The Biasing Effect of the "Sexually Violent Predator" Label on Legal Decisions, 47 International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 109 (2016) ("Scurich"). In the Scurich study,

[Jurors] were asked to decide whether an individual who had been incarcerated for 16 years should be released on parole. The individual was either labeled as a) a sexually violent predator or b) a convicted felon, and all other information was identical between the conditions. Jurors were over twice as likely to deny parole to the SVP compared to the felon, even though they did not consider him any more dangerous or any more likely to reoffend.

Scurich, p. 109 (Abstract). The authors concluded that "jurors' decisions

¹³ See, e.g. Deirdre M. Smith, Dangerous Diagnoses, Risky Assumptions, and the Failed Experiment of "Sexually Violent Predator" Commitment, 67 Okla. L. Rev. 619, 623 (2015).

in SVP hearings are driven by legally impermissible considerations, and that the mere label of 'sexually violent predator' [introduces] bias into the decision making process." Scurich, p. 109 (Abstract).

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