FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/17/2019 8:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 96944-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

MICHAEL CANTY,

Petitioner.

STATE'S ANSWER TO AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KELLY A. PARADIS Assistant Attorney General Attorney for the State of Washington WSBA #47175 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 389-3001 OID #91094

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

Canty claims that these two terms have different meanings and that a "crime of sexual violence" requires proof at trial of "a sex offense accomplished through 'swift and intense force' or 'rough and injurious physical force" Pet. for Review at 8. He further claims that that it was for the jury to determine whether his predicate offenses were "violent in fact." *Id.* These arguments are meritless. The legislature has expressly declared that Canty's predicate offenses are "sexually *violent* offenses" as a matter of law. *See* RCW 71.09.090(17) (emphasis added). There is absolutely no basis to conclude that a sexually violent offense must be sufficiently "rough" in order for it to be a "crime of sexual violence."

Canty next asserts that this case conflicts with several decisions setting forth general principles of statutory construction. Pet. for Review at 9-10 (citing State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d 463, 475-76, 98 P.3d 795 (2004); Durland v. San Juan County, 182 Wn.2d 55, 79, 340 P.3d 191 (2014); In re Det. of Martin, 163 Wn.2d 501, 509, 182 P.3d 951 (2008); In re Det. of Hawkins, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010)). Specifically, he

argues that this case conflicts with *Costich* and *Durland* by failing to give different meanings to different statutory phrases, and it conflicts with *Martin* and *Hawkins* by failing to strictly construe statutes against the State. *Id.* But those principles are inapplicable here, because there is no material difference between the two statutory phrases, and there is no ambiguity in the statutory scheme. Further, the decision in this case is entirely consistent with principles of statutory construction set forth by this Court, which require courts to harmonize statutes and to avoid absurd results. There is simply no conflict warranting review.

3. Using the legal term "sexually violent predator" in jury instructions is consistent with the jury's inquiry, the statutory language, and the pattern jury instructions

The trial court properly declined to use the phrase "criteria for civil commitment" instead of the legal term "sexually violent predator" throughout the jury instructions. Using the legal term "sexually violent predator" is consistent with the jury's inquiry, the statutory language, and the pattern jury instructions.

At a commitment trial, the jury must determine beyond a reasonable doubt whether the person is a sexually violent predator. RCW 71.09.060(1). The term "sexually violent predator" is defined by statute and has a specific legal meaning. RCW 71.09.020(18). Given that the central issue in this trial was whether Canty is a "sexually violent predator" under the statute, the trial court properly used that term in the jury instructions. Using the precise

legal term was consistent with the State's allegations and most accurately reflected the jury's inquiry.

The trial court's instructions also mirrored the statutory language and were consistent with the pattern jury instructions. The term "sexually violent predator" is used throughout chapter 71.09 RCW. See generally ch. 71.09 RCW. The term is also used throughout the pattern jury instructions including the verdict form, which asks whether the State "proved beyond a reasonable doubt that [the respondent] is a sexually violent predator." See 6A WPI 365.01, 365.10, 365.11, 365.21.

Relying on law review articles, Canty claims that the term "sexually violent predator" produces an emotional response that encouraged jurors to commit even if the State fails to meet its burden of proof. Pet. for Review at 11-14. He further claims that the trial court's decision to use the term "sexually violent predator" instead of the phrase "criteria for civil commitment" violated his right to due process. *Id.* at 11. The Court of Appeals properly rejected these claims.

By nature, many legal terms have the potential to provoke an emotional response. But legal terms are used at trial because they reflect the central issue before the factfinder. For example, a defendant charged with murder or rape may similarly claim that those legal terms are emotionally charged. Nevertheless, even though the defendant may prefer that those terms are not used at trial, such terms are utilized because they reflect precisely what the State must prove. Put simply, use of precise legal

terminology is critical to ensuring that the factfinder fully understands its role and can properly apply the facts to the law in a particular case.

Further, the trial court properly declined to use the phrase "criteria for civil commitment" because it is vague and misleading. There are various forms of civil commitment in Washington, and the jury needs to understand what form of civil commitment the State is seeking. *See*, *e.g.*, ch. 71.05 RCW. In addition, using vague terminology poses its own risks, as it heightens the possibility that the jury may not fully comprehend the nature and gravity of its determination.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Rejected Canty's Challenge to the Admission of Victim Z.B.'s Prior Sworn Testimony

The Court of Appeals properly rejected Canty's challenge to the admission of victim Z.B.'s prior sworn testimony. The trial court properly admitted this testimony because the victim was unavailable and Canty had the opportunity and similar motive to develop her testimony during cross-examination. Moreover, this Court has already determined that there is no due process right to confrontation at an SVP trial, and the facts of this case do not warrant a different result. Finally, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, even if the admission of the testimony amounted to constitutional error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because Z.B.'s testimony was cumulative with other substantive evidence. *Canty*, slip op. at 12-15.

1. The trial court properly admitted Z.B.'s testimony because she was unavailable and Canty had the

opportunity and similar motive to develop her testimony during cross-examination

There is no need for this Court to accept review of this case to consider a routine evidentiary issue. Nevertheless, to the extent that Canty seeks review of the trial court's evidentiary ruling, this Court should decline review. *See* Pet. for Review at 20-24. The trial court properly exercised its discretion to admit Z.B.'s testimony under ER 804(b)(1) because she was unavailable and Canty had the opportunity and similar motive to develop her testimony during cross-examination.

ER 804(b)(1) provides that a witness's former testimony is an exception to the hearsay rule if the witness is unavailable and the party against whom the testimony is now offered had "an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination." A "similar motive" need not be "identical motive." *State v. DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d 402, 414, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003). A witness is unavailable if she is absent from trial and the State has been unable to procure her attendance "by process or other reasonable means." ER 804(a)(5). Where a witness cannot be reached by subpoena, the party offering the testimony "should at least be required to represent to the court that it made an effort to secure the voluntary attendance of the witness[] at trial." *Rice v. Janovich*, 109 Wn.2d 48, 57, 742 P.2d 1230 (1987).

Here, contrary to Canty's assertion, the admission of Z.B.'s testimony was proper under ER 804(b)(1). Prior to trial, the State made substantial efforts to locate Z.B. See CP at 91-92. The State's investigator

sent correspondence to Z.B.'s last known address and a possible relative, and it attempted to locate her using social media and law enforcement databases. *Id.* at 92. The investigator submitted a declaration stating that he had "exhausted all available resources" but despite the "numerous efforts and means employed," he was unable to find her. *Id.* These efforts were both reasonable and sufficient. *See DeSantiago*, 149 Wn.2d 409-13; *Rice*, 109 Wn.2d at 57. Canty cites no authority requiring the State to provide the details or utilize the methods he describes. *See* Pet. for Review at 22.

Further, Canty had both an opportunity and similar motive to develop Z.B.'s testimony at the prior proceeding. Canty cross-examined Z.B. at the 1996 preliminary hearing in the criminal case. *See* CP at 115-33. And Canty had a similar motive in this proceeding, as the purpose of the preliminary hearing was to determine whether there was probable cause to believe that Canty committed the charged offense. Canty's purpose was thus to test Z.B.'s credibility regarding the sexual assault. In short, the trial court here properly admitted this testimony.

2. This Court has consistently determined that there is no due process right to confrontation at an SVP trial

The Court of Appeals saw no need to address the merits of Canty's constitutional claim given that the alleged error is harmless even under the more stringent harmless error test. In any event, this case does not present a significant question of constitutional law of substantial public interest because this Court has consistently determined that individuals do not have

a due process right to confrontation at a civil commitment trial. The facts of this case do not warrant a different conclusion.

Due process is a "flexible concept." *In re Det. of Stout*, 159 Wn.2d 357, 370, 150 P.3d 86 (2007). In determining what procedural due process requires in a given context, courts employ the *Mathews* test, which balances: (1) the private interest affected; (2) the risk of erroneous deprivation of that interest through existing procedures, and the probable value, if any, of additional procedural safeguards; and (3) the governmental interest, including costs and administrative burdens of additional procedures. *Id.* (citing *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 96 S. Ct. 893, 47 L. Ed. 2d 18 (1976)).

In *In re Detention of Stout*, this Court applied the *Mathews* test and held that an SVP detainee does not have a due process right to confront live witnesses at a commitment trial or at a deposition. 159 Wn.2d at 374. This Court reached the same conclusion in *In re Detention of Coe*, despite the fact that, unlike in *Stout*, Coe never had an opportunity to cross-examine the five victims. 175 Wn.2d 482, 509-10, 286 P.3d 29 (2012). In doing so, this Court rejected Coe's argument that *Stout* was limited to its facts. *Id.* It noted that the "same statutory safeguards exist" as in *Stout* and that Coe's inability to cross-examine the five victims "does not reduce the effectiveness of the current statutory procedural safeguards." *Id.* at 511.

Here, as in *Stout* and *Coe*, application of the *Mathews* test confirms that Canty does not have a due process right to confrontation. Only the first *Mathews* factor weighs in Canty's favor, as he has a significant interest in

his physical liberty. *Stout*, 159 Wn.2d at 370. The other two factors weigh heavily in the State's favor.

As to the second factor, there is a minimal risk of erroneously depriving Canty of his liberty. For one, a "comprehensive set of rights" for the SVP detainee already exist, including the right to counsel, the right to a jury of 12 peers, the requirement that the State meet its burden beyond a reasonable doubt, and the requirement that the jury's verdict be unanimous. *Stout*, 159 Wn.2d at 370. These "significant safeguards" were deemed sufficient in *Stout* and *Coe. Id.*; *Coe*, 175 Wn.2d at 510. Moreover, the risk of erroneous deprivation is especially low in this case, where the witness's prior testimony was under oath, Canty had an opportunity to cross-examine the witness in the prior proceeding, Canty admitted the offense and does not dispute the victim's account, and Canty's own deposition testimony "mirrored" the victim's. For the same reasons, there is little—if any—probable value in adding a due process right to cross-examination in this particular context.

Finally, the third factor weighs in favor of the State because the State has a compelling interest in protecting the community from sex offenders who pose a risk of reoffending. *Stout*, 159 Wn.2d at 371. The State also has a compelling interest in "ensuring the availability of testimony that may come from witnesses who are no longer in the area or easily accessible." *Id.* at 371-72. Further, the "additional financial burden is unjustifiable considering the marginal protection that an additional confrontation right would provide to the detainee's liberty interest." *Coe*, 175 Wn.2d at 510.

Canty claims that *Mathews* test weighs in favor of cross-examination when the witness provides substantive evidence. Pet. for Review at 17-20. Specifically, he claims that the risk of erroneous deprivation was elevated in this case since the jury was not able to determine the truth of Z.B.'s prior statements. *Id.* at 17-18. But Canty's claim ignores that Z.B.'s prior testimony was under oath, Canty had a prior opportunity to cross-examine her, Canty has admitted the offense against Z.B. and does not dispute her account, and Canty's own deposition testimony "mirrored" the victim's. He thus fails to explain how cross-examination at trial would have assisted the jury as factfinder. Application of the *Mathews* test does not support Canty's claim.

3. The admission of victim Z.B.'s prior testimony was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it "mirrored" Canty's own testimony

Without addressing the merits of his constitutional claim, the Court of Appeals concluded that even if the admission of Z.B.'s testimony was constitutional error, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because Canty's own description of the event "mirrored" Z.B.'s testimony and the testimony was thus cumulative. *Canty*, slip op. at 14-15. This was correct.

"When an error is of constitutional magnitude, the court must apply the 'harmless beyond a reasonable doubt' standard and query whether any reasonable jury would have reached the same result in the absence of the tainted evidence." *State v. Benn*, 161 Wn.2d 256, 266, 165 P.3d 1232

(2007). The State does not concede constitutional error. Nevertheless, the constitutional harmless error standard is easily satisfied in this case.

The portion of Z.B.'s prior testimony admitted in this trial provided details about Canty's 1996 assault. See RP at 619-27. This testimony was cumulative with other substantive evidence admitted at trial, specifically, Canty's videotaped deposition testimony. See CP at 334-38; Ex 33. As the Court of Appeals correctly recognized, "Canty's description of the event mirrored Z.B.'s." Canty, slip op. at 14. In addition, his testimony provided graphic detail about the assault. See RP at 619-27. For example, Canty testified that he was "high off of PCP," "needed to meet [his] immediate need of arousal," and planned to "jump the fence and grab [Z.B.] and . . . sexually offend against her, grope her." CP at 335, 336. He said he "grabbed her by the hair, threw her to the ground and then got behind her and got on her back and rode her . . . straddled her back." CP at 336. He said he then picked her off the ground but she "broke loose" so he "ran and jumped the fence." CP at 336. He testified that Z.B. said "No," but he did not stop because he was "being selfish." CP at 336, 337.

In addition, *both* experts testified about Canty's attack on Z.B., and their testimony was also consistent with Z.B.'s account. *See* RP 299-302, 684, 725-27, 746, 761, 770. The State's expert provided significant detail about the offense and testified that Canty admitted the offense as the expert had described it. RP 299-302. Thus, the details of this offense was already before the jury through ample other untainted evidence.

Canty asserts that the admission of this testimony was not harmless, pointing to a remark from an Assistant Attorney General that this "is a pretty close case." Pet. for Review at 24 (quoting RP at 5). But Canty's reliance on that quotation is unpersuasive. For one, Canty fails to note that the Assistant Attorney General made this remark in a pretrial hearing while arguing the State's contested motion to exclude certain evidence. *See* RP at 5. The remark in no way reflects the State's assessment of the case following the presentation of evidence at trial. Moreover, Canty cites no authority that this type of remark is relevant when conducting a harmless error analysis. The controlling inquiry looks at the untainted evidence presented at trial, and as just discussed, there was ample, untainted evidence presented in this trial that was cumulative with Z.B.'s testimony.

V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals properly applied well-settled law to affirm Canty's commitment as an SVP. Nothing in the decision raises a significant constitutional question, conflicts with prior case law, or presents an issue of substantial public interest. Accordingly, this Court should deny Canty's petition for review.